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In memory of my mother,

Marjorie De Mund Bonner

(1912–2000),

who instilled the values in the beginning,
and for

Susannah and Fiona,

who give me hope for the future





[The prosecutor’s duty] is not that [the government] shall win a case, but that justice shall be done.… He may prosecute with earnestness and vigor—indeed, he should do so. But, while he may strike hard blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul ones. It is as much his duty to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just one.

—JUSTICE GEORGE SUTHERLAND,
BERGER V. UNITED STATES, 1935



Law enforcement officers have the obligation to convict the guilty and to make sure they do not convict the innocent. They must be dedicated to making the criminal trial a procedure for the ascertainment of the true facts surrounding the commission of the crime. To this extent, our so-called adversary system is not adversary at all; nor should it be. But defense counsel has no comparable obligation to ascertain or present the truth. Our system assigns him a different mission. He must be and is interested in preventing the conviction of the innocent, but, absent a voluntary plea of guilty, we also insist that he defend his client whether he is innocent or guilty.

—JUSTICE BYRON WHITE,
UNITED STATES V. WADE, 1967
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AUTHOR’S NOTE

IN THE FIRST month of the twenty-first century, Governor George Ryan of Illinois dramatically thrust the death penalty into the national debate. Investigative work by reporters at the Chicago Tribune and by a joint project at the schools of law and journalism at Northwestern University had resulted in several condemned men having their convictions reversed, one only hours before he was to be executed. Ryan, a longtime proponent of capital punishment, was shaken. “Until I can be sure that everyone sentenced to death in Illinois is truly guilty, until I can be sure with moral certainty that no innocent man or woman is facing a lethal injection, no one will meet that fate,” said Ryan. A conservative Republican, Ryan said he still believed in the death penalty, but was compelled to suspend executions in the face of the state’s “shameful record of convicting innocent people and putting them on Death Row.”

Two weeks later, another conservative Republican governor, George W. Bush of Texas, was asked about capital punishment when he appeared on Meet the Press as his party’s leading presidential candidate. As governor, Bush had presided over more executions than any state chief executive in history. Indeed, under his watch, from 1995 to 2000, Texas put more men and women to death than the next five states combined (Virginia, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Florida, and Alabama). Toward the end of the hour-long program, the host, Tim Russert, raised the subject of the death penalty.

Would Bush join Governor Ryan in invoking a moratorium until the system could be analyzed “so you don’t make a mistake?” Russert asked, noting that Ryan was the head of Bush’s campaign in Illinois.

“No, I won’t,” Bush said without hesitation. “Because I’m confident that every person that has been put to death in Texas under my watch has been guilty of the crime charged and has full access to the courts. I’m confident.” He went on, “I’ve reviewed every case, Tim, and I’m confident that every case that has come across my desk—I’m confident of the guilt of the person who committed the crime.”

BUSH WAS THROWING DOWN the gauntlet, in a move reminiscent of Senator Gary Hart’s challenge to the media during the 1984 primaries to prove his marital infidelity. But Bush’s boast was far more serious: that no innocent man had been executed in Texas, that every death row inmate had enjoyed “full access to the courts.”

In response, The New York Times sent me to Texas to investigate and report on the matter. My colleague Sara Rimer and I spent several weeks traveling around the state—San Antonio, Brownsville, Austin, Dallas, Houston—talking to death penalty lawyers, prosecutors, victims’ families, and members of the Texas Board of Pardons and Paroles, and reviewing cases of men who had been executed. We did not find any case where we could say with certainty that an innocent man had been executed. Our efforts to do so were severely hampered by the fact that once a man is executed, his lawyers and investigators turn their attention to clients who are still on death row, rather than pursuing evidence of a former client’s innocence. But we found state officials involved in the Texas criminal justice system who were not as sanguine as their governor that the system was rendering justice in every case. “I worry that we may execute an innocent person,” said Paddy Lann Burwell, who had been appointed by Bush to the parole board. “Any person would know that is a possibility. I think our system needs to be improved.” Our lengthy article appeared on the front page, and it was accompanied by brief summaries of five cases.

The Times editors considered that capital punishment was a topic worthy of further reporting, and Sara and I continued to examine the various issues that marked the debate. We made repeated visits to Texas’s death row in Livingston. After passing through security, we’d sit in a rather large room with vending machines dispensing soft drinks, coffee, and candy bars, waiting for a prisoner to be brought from his cell. He’d be on the other side of thick glass, and we’d talk through a telephone. We interviewed John Paul Penry, whose case was twice argued before the United States Supreme Court. It was November, and when we asked Mr. Penry, fifty-six years old, if he believed in Santa Claus, he said, “They keep talking about Santa Claus being down in the North Pole.… Some people say it’s not true. I got to where I do believe there’s a Santa Claus.”

One of our front-page articles, “Executing the Mentally Retarded Even as Laws Begin to Shift,” was cited by both the majority and the dissent in Atkins v. Virginia, the landmark Supreme Court case that held it was unconstitutional to execute a person who was mentally retarded. We were given unexpected insight into the generally poor quality of trial representation provided defendants facing the death penalty when we interviewed a gregarious Houston lawyer named Ronald Mock. He had had more clients executed or awaiting execution than any other lawyer in the country, which didn’t seem to shame him at all. Mock boasted that he had flunked his criminal law course and was a heavy drinker. “I drank whiskey with judges,” he said. “I drank whiskey in the best bars.” He insisted it didn’t affect his performance, and judges kept appointing him to represent defendants in capital cases.

We reported beyond the South. I went to Idaho when Charles Fain, who had been on death row for eighteen years, was released after DNA established his innocence.

At some point, I heard about the South Carolina case of Edward Lee Elmore. After a trial lasting seven days, he had been sentenced to death in 1982 for the murder of a wealthy widow, Dorothy Ely Edwards. His conviction was overturned on appeal; he was retried and reconvicted; that sentence was also reversed; after a third trial, he was again sentenced to death. Then, in 2000, his lawyers found evidence that state officials had sworn repeatedly had been lost. The evidence raised questions about Elmore’s guilt.

In many ways, Elmore’s is a garden-variety death penalty case: a young black male of limited intelligence convicted of murdering a white person after a trial in which his lawyers’ performance was so poor that it could barely be called a defense. But the case is also exceptional, and not just because it involved “sex, violence, and racism,” as one of Mrs. Edwards’s neighbors put it, convinced that this was the only reason reporters were interested. Elmore’s story raises nearly all the issues that mark the debate about capital punishment: race, mental retardation, bad trial lawyers, prosecutorial misconduct, “snitch” testimony, DNA testing, a claim of innocence. “While lots of cases have one of these aspects, it’s a case that has all of them,” John Blume, head of the South Carolina Death Penalty Resource Center, which represented death row inmates, told me.

For this reason, I felt the desire to write Elmore’s story more than that of any of the other men Sara and I met on death row. But that wasn’t the only factor leading to this book. For me, as a lawyer and as a journalist, what transformed the story was the character, dedication, and determination of his appellate lawyer, Diana Holt, an intense native of Texas whose conversations are punctuated by flailing arms and eye rolls. She’s sui generis, her life having more in common with Elmore’s than with Ivy League–educated death penalty lawyers. Listening to her speaking with her death row clients is surreal. Using words like “pokie wokie” and “peachie,” she talks as if she were at the mall with friends. She is as much a mother, big sister, or friend to these men—most of whom have been abandoned by their families—as she is their lawyer. In the summer of 1993, at the age of thirty-four, Diana, with pure grit and the blossoming of innate intelligence, had overcome Sisyphean odds and finished her second year of law school. As an intern at the South Carolina Death Penalty Resource Center, she was given the Elmore file. By then, he had been on death row for eleven years.

Elmore’s case, and Holt’s effort to save his life, is a textbook study of how our criminal justice system works in capital cases, as well as how it doesn’t. Americans consider their criminal justice system to be the best in the world. Some conservatives may carp that it coddles criminals, and some liberals may believe that there are not enough protections for suspects, particularly indigent ones. By and large, however, the system yields justice. As a former prosecutor and defense counsel, however, I know the system is only as good as the lawyers who administer it—prosecutors, defense counsel, judges. If prosecutors abuse their authority, if defense lawyers are lazy or incompetent, if judges are weak or biased, the result is injustice, and in capital cases that can spell death.



BOOK ONE
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Rush to Judgment




CHAPTER ONE
Greenwood, South Carolina, 1982

A FEROCIOUS SNOWSTORM hit the South in January 1982. An Air Florida 737 crashed into the Fourteenth Street Bridge in Washington, D.C., and then plunged into the icy Potomac River, killing seventy-eight people. In Atlanta, temperatures fell to near zero. Some 160 miles east, two inches of snow covered buildings, lawns, and cars in Greenwood, South Carolina. On the front page of the Greenwood Index-Journal, there appeared a picture of Emily James, two and a half years old, bundled in a snowsuit, watching “in amazement as her family went sledding.” Government offices and schools were closed. In a graceful hand, Dorothy Edwards wrote “Snow” in the squares on her calendar for Wednesday and Thursday, the thirteenth and fourteenth.

Along with some ten thousand homeowners, Mrs. Edwards was without power for thirty-six hours. She jumped rope to keep warm. She was seventy-six years old but could have passed for fifty-six, a petite five foot three, size 6. Every morning, she pulled on her leotards for thirty minutes of exercise. She was a handsome woman, reserved, very much a lady—“elegant in a comfortable sort of way,” in the eyes of her daughter, Carolyn. There had been no TV dinners or fast food when Carolyn was growing up; the dining room table was set with china and silver for every meal, breakfast included.

Dorothy’s home since the end of World War II was on the north side of Greenwood, on Melrose Terrace; her three-acre wooded plot backed onto Edgewood Cemetery, adding to the feeling of seclusion and tranquillity—except for the nights when young men brought their six-packs for parties among the dead. The west end of the half-mile-long, leafy street is anchored by the First Baptist Church, founded in 1870. The current stately structure with its cathedral sanctuary and stained-glass windows was erected in 1954; the bell tower was added in 1968. Dorothy lived where the boomerang-shaped street curved, at 209. Most of her neighbors were elderly. Christine Henderson, whose husband had died in 1967, lived in a white brick house with a large lawn across the street, at 210; her son was a criminal investigator for the state. The redbrick house at 213 belonged to Mildred Clark, a widow, who was the neighborhood recluse—she didn’t even answer the door for trick-or-treaters. At 205 was Roy Raborn, a salesman at Fred Smith Co., a men’s clothing store, who had landed at Omaha Beach in 1944. Dorothy’s neighbors thought she was a drug company heiress, which was not quite true. She was well-off, having inherited close to $1 million from her mother, while her stepfather had been an executive with Geer Drug Co. in Spartanburg, South Carolina, a lovely town at the foot of the Blue Ridge Mountains. Dorothy’s mother, Beatrice Ely, had moved to the South from New York after she divorced; her husband was a jeweler in New York City. Beatrice raised her daughter to be independent and refined. They spent vacations in the mountains, where Beatrice taught Dorothy to ride horses and shoot; years later, Dorothy’s neighbors were not alarmed when they heard the crack of a rifle from the yard behind her house. “Did you get it, Dorothy?” a neighbor would shout, knowing she’d spotted another snake.

Beatrice sent her daughter to Converse College, a women’s liberal arts school in Spartanburg. The school is strong in music and sends graduates to symphonies and conservatories around the world. Dorothy, a coloratura soprano, won local, regional, and national singing contests. When she was thirty, she took a train to New York to appear on Major Bowes’ Amateur Hour, performing “Carmena.” She took second place. It made front-page news in Spartanburg.

A few months later, back in Spartanburg, she married James Edward Edwards, the son of a well-liked family doctor who would accept a chicken or vegetables from a patient’s garden as payment. Dorothy and Ed, as family and friends called him, had met in college when he was at Wofford, a liberal arts college near Converse. They were married on a Thursday morning at the Church of the Advent, in a ceremony marked by “simplicity and dignity,” the Spartanburg newspaper reported in a prominent article. The bride, it noted, wore “a becoming fall suit of beige wool with collar of faux fur.”

Ed and Dorothy’s only child, Carolyn, was born in 1939, and soon afterward, Ed went off to war, a U.S. Navy Seabee. After the war, he moved his family to Greenwood. They bought a marshy plot. Ed drained it, filled it, landscaped it, and built a spacious two-bedroom house; later he added a screened-in porch and a guest room.

He worked primarily in construction, and became Greenwood’s first civil defense director in the 1950s. He was a generous, big-hearted man who “championed the underdog, and hired the handicapped,” his daughter recalled. A heavy drinker, he eventually joined Alcoholics Anonymous and helped set up several groups throughout the state. He died at the age of fifty-eight, in 1966. It was a devastating loss for Dorothy, but she had a strong inner resolve, and gradually she found a strength and independence that impressed close friends. She now put much of her energy into painting, displaying remarkable talent; the walls of her home were decorated with her work. She also made needlepoint pillows and hooked rugs, passing hours in front of a large frame stretched with a rug, peering through a magnifying glass at designs she had bought from New York’s Metropolitan Museum of Art. “My brains are in my fingers,” she would say jovially to Carolyn.

THE TOWN

GREENWOOD, NAMED IN the early 1800s after a plantation that the owner’s wife had called Green Wood, has rich chocolate soil, fertile for small-scale agriculture. But it had grown as a textile town—Greenwood Cotton Mill opened in 1889, a second mill in 1896, and a third in 1897. At its peak, there were 250,000 spindles in the Greenwood environs. In 1897, the town’s voters—all white males, of course—approved a $25,000 bond issue for a courthouse and jail. By the turn of the century, the population had soared to 4,828 and nine railroad lines passed through the municipality, bringing twenty-seven trains each day. Traveling salesmen stayed at the Oregon Hotel, the only hotel in town until the 1960s.

Though perhaps today “an hour and a half from everyplace else” (as President Obama would describe it good-naturedly during his presidential campaign), Greenwood residents have much to boast about in their history. After World War I, they saluted Supreme Allied Commander Ferdinand Foch with a huge celebration on Main Street, slightly wider than the length of a football field at the time—before office buildings went up. In 1954, the street was packed with cheering residents turned out to welcome a local girl who had been crowned Miss Universe, Miriam Stevenson. The small town has produced the Swingin’ Medallions, modeled on the Beach Boys; a justice of the South Carolina Supreme Court; and three star quarterbacks in succession for Clemson University. Greenwood residents are crazy about their sports. The high school football coach Julius “Pinky” Babb became a legend, winning more than three hundred games between 1943 and 1981. “We were confident in our excellence,” said a resident.

It was a white, Protestant community, primarily Southern Baptist. It had very few Catholics until the 1960s, when some northern companies began to relocate in the Emerald City, as the town calls itself. As for blacks, fifteen years after the Supreme Court had declared, in Brown v. Board of Education, that separate schools for blacks and whites were unconstitutional, and a year later ordered integration “with all deliberate speed,” Greenwood’s high schools were still segregated. The segregationists held out until 1969, and then they gave in grudgingly. Greenwood doesn’t hide its racial past. A war memorial sits at the corner of Oak and Main, in front of the redbrick, seven-story Textile Building. American Legion Post No. 20 erected it in 1929. A pole carrying the Stars and Stripes extends from a six-foot-high granite base. The bronze plaque on the west side of the base lists the World War I dead in two categories—“White” and “Colored.” Thirty-one “whites” and 24 “coloreds” gave their lives. The “colored” include Henry Chin. Another plaque was added after World War II. It also racially divides the men who were killed in action: 131 “white” and 11 “colored.” The racial categories were eliminated for the Korean War—12 men from Greenwood are remembered in alphabetical order. Twenty-four men died in the Vietnam War; their names are also listed alphabetically.

At the beginning of the twenty-first century, C. Rauch Wise, a lawyer and probably Greenwood’s only card-carrying member of the ACLU, offered to replace the segregationist plaques from the first two wars with plaques that listed the dead alphabetically. He quietly took the proposal to the mayor. After some inquiries, the mayor, an African American, reported back that it couldn’t be done. The monument didn’t belong to the city, he said. It belonged to the local American Legion post, which opposed the change. A few years later, in 2010, Wise tried again. Again, the legionnaires said no.

Over the decades Greenwood grew out, not up. The eight-story Grier Building, at 327 Main Street, was the tallest in town when it was built in 1919 and is the tallest today. Greenwood’s charm gave way to sprawl, and the town became indistinguishable from thousands of others across the country—shopping malls with enormous parking lots, chains replacing independents, fast-food franchises. A small grocery store owned by Dorothy’s next-door neighbor Jimmy Holloway was bought by a supermarket chain, which later sold to a chain steak house.
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DOROTHY SPENT CHRISTMAS 1981 with her daughter, Carolyn, and her grandchildren. Carolyn had married—she was now Carolyn Lee—and was living in Pensacola, Florida. Dorothy returned home on Sunday, December 27, she noted on her calendar. On Wednesday, Edward Elmore, a lean black man with bright eyes, knocked on the back door. With only a fifth-grade education and of limited intelligence—he could do simple addition and subtraction only if he used his fingers—he worked as a handyman. A few weeks earlier, while working for one of Dorothy’s neighbors, he had noticed that the gutters on the house at 209 were full of leaves; he asked Dorothy if she would like him to clean them. Mrs. Edwards said yes. She showed him where the ladder was, underneath the porch. The job took him about two hours, for which he was paid $3. Come back in a few weeks, after the leaves have finished falling, she said.

On December 30 he returned, cleaned out the gutters, and washed the windows as well. While Mrs. Edwards was writing him a check, Elmore told her that the paint on some of the window frames was peeling. He was a good painter, he said. She told him to call in a month or two, when the weather would be better. She slowly spelled her last name and phone number, and he scrawled “Edwards” and “229-4087” on a State Farm Insurance card, which was in his girlfriend’s name for her 1976 Mustang; he put it back in his wallet. Dorothy later told Jimmy Holloway what a fine job Elmore had done and showed him the clean windows.

The new year was promising to be a good one for Dorothy. On the calendar square for January 3, she wrote “Lonnie’s.” Lonnie Morgan was a businessman from Tryon, North Carolina, retired, living comfortably on the proceeds from the business he had sold. He was a member of the Tryon Hunt and Riding Club; Dorothy, a keen rider, was planning to join. They had been introduced by a Converse College classmate of Dorothy’s and had been seeing each other for a couple of years; she had recently told neighbors that they were talking about getting married. She visited him in Tryon on January 3. The following Saturday, January 9, she went to a choir party at the Episcopal Church of the Resurrection, a couple of miles away, over on South Main. She attended regularly and was a standout soloist in the choir.

On Thursday afternoon, the fourteenth, when a front-page headline alerted residents, “More snow, sleet heading this way,” Jimmy Holloway called around three. He and his wife, Frances, were about to go grocery shopping and offered to pick up some things for Dorothy. The Holloways were her closest friends. They had met at the Oregon Hotel on the eve of World War II, and Jimmy had encouraged Dorothy and Ed to build on the plot next to his.

Jimmy walked over and got her shopping list; then he and his wife drove to the Winn-Dixie supermarket, out on Route 25. When they returned, Dorothy asked Jimmy if he’d lift a five-gallon kerosene canister out of the trunk of her car; she had bought it for a portable heater, which she needed now, with the unusual cold. He carried it through the kitchen and into her den. The three of them chatted for a while.

On Saturday, Jimmy called Dorothy and again offered to go grocery shopping for her. It was sleeting, but the temperature had moved above freezing, melting the worst icy patches. She said she could go herself. She also told him that she was planning to go to North Carolina the next day to visit Lonnie. After hanging up, she drove to Winn-Dixie. In the checkout line she chatted with an old friend, Coley Free. She showed him pictures of her two grandchildren and her two-year-old great-grandson, and then she took her change from the checkout girl, put it in her purse, and drove home. It was late in the afternoon.

THE CRIME

FORTY-FOUR HOURS LATER, the body of Dorothy Ely Edwards was found in her bedroom closet. She was clad only in a reddish-purple housecoat with a ruffled collar, zipped up the front.

There was a horrible bruise on her right knee, and her lower right leg was reddish purple. Her knees were drawn up. A dress boot was wedged between them. Pieces of glass were stuck in the dried blood on her left wrist. Her left ear was nearly severed. The areas around both eyes were black-and-blue. Her hair was matted with blood.

The murder rocked the community. Most of Greenwood’s murders were in the black neighborhood—blacks killing blacks in barroom brawls, over money or a woman, or in domestic disputes. The perpetrator was usually caught quickly, often with a gun or knife still in his possession. Those crimes didn’t particularly disturb the white community. This one did. “Widow Stabbed to Death” screamed the headline at the top of the front page of the Greenwood Index-Journal, accompanied by a picture of policemen at the house. (On that day’s front page there was also an article reporting that the Supreme Court, by a vote of 5–4, had overturned the death sentence of Monty Lee Eddings, who at the age of sixteen had been convicted of killing an Oklahoma highway patrolman with a sawed-off shotgun; the court said that the jury had not been properly instructed to consider mitigating evidence.)

THE POLICE

“MYSELF AND PATROLMAN ALVIN COOK were on Smythe Street when we heard a radio dispatched message of a possible Code One, which is an attempted murder,” Sgt. John Owen wrote in his official report. (The dispatcher had it wrong—Code 1 is murder.) “Myself and Alvin Cook then proceded to 209 Melrose Terrace. And we arrived there at 12:26 p.m. Myself and Patrolman Cook went to the home where we found Patrolman Holtzclaw at the rear of this home.” Holtzclaw was talking to Jimmy Holloway, under the carport, next to Edwards’s 1976 Cadillac; her large-wheeled bicycle, with handlebars like a gnu’s horns, rested against the back door.

Owen noticed what appeared to be an impression of a shoe print to the left of the steps leading into the house. It was reddish. “I believe to be blood,” he wrote. He took Holtzclaw’s navy blue police hat, with a stiff bill and the Greenwood Police Department seal, and placed it over the print. He walked to his patrol car, opened the trunk, took out a cardboard box, walked back, and placed the box over the print; then he gave Holtzclaw his hat back. “I enformed them of what I had found and advised that this print was not to be disturbed,” Owen wrote.

By 12:30 that afternoon, most of Greenwood’s forty-five-man police force had descended on the usually tranquil Melrose Terrace, blocking the street with their patrol cars, stirring curiosity and concern among the residents. Sgt. Alvin Johnson, six foot two, two hundred pounds, took charge. He was thirty-two years old and had been on the force for close to eleven years, since being discharged from the Marine Corps with a Purple Heart. Not the smartest kid at Greenwood High, Johnson had joined the marines immediately upon graduation and was still only eighteen years old when he arrived in Vietnam. During a fierce firefight south of Da Nang, his body was shredded by shrapnel and he nearly died, saved only by an alert squad member who hollered for a corpsman.

“What I done when I first got there is talk to Mr. Holloway,” Johnson would later testify.

After Mr. Edwards died, Holloway had watched over his widow. He had a key to her house. He liked to slip over in the afternoon for a cocktail. His wife was a straitlaced teetotaler. Dorothy drank, socially. “A southern belle who liked a glass of sherry,” said her daughter. Melrose Terrace residents thought there was more to the relationship between Holloway and Dorothy than just being good neighbors. Popular and gregarious, Holloway had a reputation as something of a ladies’ man. Neighbors would whisper among themselves about how he would come out of his house, go into his garage, and then look out to see if anyone was watching. Then he’d walk around to the back of his house, stop, look again, and then head across the lawn and over the creek into Dorothy’s yard. At that point, the neighbors couldn’t see him anymore. But an hour or so later, they’d see him retracing his route. Dorothy spent many days at Holloway’s cabin on Lake Greenwood, a reservoir with 212 miles of shoreline on the Saluda River. Dorothy painted while Jimmy worked on his boats.

Holloway told the police officers that he had found Mrs. Edwards’s body. It was he who had called the police. He now led Johnson and Owen inside his neighbor’s house, retracing the steps he had already taken at least twice that morning. In the small alcove by the back door, the policemen glanced at several of Dorothy’s oils: one of Holloway’s Lake Greenwood cabin; three of sailboats on the lake, painted from his veranda; a still life of fruit. On the basement door, Dorothy had mounted a metal rack holding three clay flowerpots; it had been knocked askew, pieces of the lower pot on the floor. The three men walked into the kitchen, covered with wallpaper showing green ivy crawling up white bricks. Three wingback metal chairs with floral cushions were carefully arranged around a small circular table; a spoon and a glass mug lay on top. On the floor, Johnson saw a partial denture. A few feet away was a needle-nose pliers. Sticking out of a drawer where Mrs. Edwards kept a Stanley hammer, a screwdriver, nails, a ruler, and masking tape were long-handled bottle tongs, which she used for pulling canning jars out of hot water. A coffee cup had been washed and left to dry upside down on the edge of the sink. On the countertop was a bowl of bananas, oranges, and apples and an empty bottle of Taylor sherry.

There was something odd about this scene. The bottle tongs all but had a sign on them saying “Here, find me.” And the kitchen was remarkably clean and neat after such a violent crime. It felt as if someone had been entertaining—witness the empty sherry bottle—and then cleaned up. There was fingerprint dust on the sherry bottle, which meant that the police probably had a clue as to who had been in the house if the print wasn’t Mrs. Edwards’s.

Dorothy’s ten-cup General Electric automatic coffeemaker was on a green Formica cabinet. Another Dorothy oil, a ballerina in a pink tutu—it was Carolyn—hung above it. “I have one just like it,” Holloway said to Johnson, referring to the coffeemaker. It was set for 6:00 a.m. Holloway explained that Dorothy would have had to set it after 7:00 p.m. the previous night. The coffee had burned dry in the Pyrex pot; Johnson turned it off.

Johnson, Owen, and Holloway passed through the swinging door into the dining room. They noticed a bloody shoe print on the blue carpet at the far end of the dining room, “pointed outward as if someone were walking away from the bedroom area and into the dining room,” Owen reported. They turned right, into the den. There was a piano, a grandfather clock, several easy chairs, and a table. On top of a console television set was an elephant carved from expensive black stone with real ivory tusks (which Dorothy had inherited from her mother). In front of the television was an antique settee, covered in silk; a white blanket, which Mrs. Edwards had crocheted, lay on it, rumpled. Her eyeglasses were lying on the coffee table in front of the couch, next to a TV Guide, which was open to Saturday night for the shows between 8:00 and 9:00 p.m.: Joyful News, a religious show on Channel 16; Classic Country Music on 17 and 33; Resurrection on HBO; a college basketball game between DePaul and Old Dominion on ESPN. The television was blaring; Johnson turned it off.

Moving back into the foyer, the police and Holloway paused at a drop-leaf table on which Dorothy had placed a silver tray with a decanter and four crystal goblets, several ashtrays, a bowl with artificial fruit, a pair of lined gloves, and a checkbook. This was where Mrs. Edwards put her Aigner clutch purse, Holloway told Johnson. It wasn’t there now. They continued to the bedrooms, at the back of the house. On the right was the guest bedroom, with a late-eighteenth-century canopied bed and a small dressing table on which were two porcelain figures, a man and woman in Early American dress, and two family photos in gold-colored frames. Nothing was amiss there.

Dorothy’s bedroom was the next room. Her alarm clock, set for 7:00 a.m., was still ringing. Johnson shut it off. The carpet was strewn with a roll of Clorets mints, a penny, some Kleenex, a small leatherette key holder, an AA battery, envelopes, and a “Save 10 Cents” coupon. There was a heavy glass ashtray with an ornate gold rim from which a big piece had been chipped off. Johnson noticed a partial denture, the other portion of what he had seen in the kitchen.

On top of Dorothy’s chest of drawers were several sweaters, all neatly folded; a bra; and several family photos in silver frames—one of Dorothy’s husband when he was in the navy, one of the two of them, another of Carolyn, and one of her grandchildren. A serrated cake spatula jarred this picture of domestic tranquillity. The handle had dried blood on it; a lipstick-smudged tissue partially covered it. How was it possible that the bloody spatula had ended up there without disturbing anything else?

Dorothy Edwards had slept in a canopied 1800s bed of her own, with four solid posts. There was a night table on each side. From the indentations in the carpet, Johnson determined that the right side of the bed, as he stood at its foot, had been jarred from its normal position against the wall by about six inches. The bed looked recently made, Johnson wrote in his report.

The white carpet near the closet door was saturated with blood. There was more on the wall outside the closet. Johnson opened the closet, and there was Dorothy’s bloodied body, just as Holloway had said he’d found it. Her head was almost past the left edge of the door frame, just touching a white chest of drawers in the closet that was streaked with blood.

Johnson quickly walked back through the house and secured the scene. “Cornor Duvall arrived at 12:36,” Johnson noted in his report on the investigation, referring to the county coroner, Odell Duvall. Johnson’s superior, Capt. Jim Coursey, arrived two minutes later. Like Johnson, Coursey had enlisted upon graduating from Greenwood High, opting for the navy. He was honorably discharged after three years as a parachute rigger third class. Some residents remembered that in high school Coursey had been a hell-raiser and had had his own scrapes with the law. Maybe that made him a better cop, some thought—he understood that every high school boy who drank too much or drove too fast didn’t need to be saddled with a criminal record. He also had a reputation for being a redneck, though that did not set him apart at the time.

Johnson filled in Coursey on what he had seen and what Holloway had told him. They went through the house together, and Coursey looked at Mrs. Edwards’s body. He knew he was going to need help. This murder would have to be solved and solved quickly to calm elderly widows and, more generally, keep the community at bay.

Coursey went to his car and radioed the police dispatcher. He asked him to notify the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, in the capital, Columbia, about seventy miles away. SLED, as just about everyone calls it (many South Carolinians don’t even know the full name), is the local equivalent of the FBI, coming in to help with complicated crimes. Coursey secured the house; then he, Johnson, and the other Greenwood police officers sat in their cars to get out of the cold while they waited for the SLED agents.

When the call came in at SLED headquarters, two agents from the firearms section, Dan DeFreese and Ira Byrd Parnell Jr. grabbed their 35 mm Nikons, jumped into their state sedan, and sped to Greenwood. When they reached the south edge of the city, on Route 34, Patrolman Holtzclaw was waiting to guide them to Melrose Terrace.

There were no SLED manuals or guidelines for investigations. Parnell and DeFreese took no notes as they went through the house. DeFreese dusted for fingerprints—outside at the screen door, where the killer was thought to have entered; on the kitchen utensils and the wine bottle on the counter; in her bathroom, on the underside of the toilet seat. Parnell squeezed himself into the closet and took pictures of the body and then of the bedroom. Some of the photos showed a pool of blood on the carpet outside the closet. Strangely, there wasn’t any blood on the strip of wood under the door, that piece between the carpet in the closet and the carpet in the bedroom.

Parnell and DeFreese pulled Mrs. Edwards out of the closet and tied a plastic bag on each of her hands to preserve any evidence under her well-manicured fingernails, such as blood, hair, or skin that she almost certainly would have scraped from her assailant during a struggle. They wedged her into a body bag, robe and all. The agents went through the house, gathering evidence. On the drop-leaf table in the hallway near the front door they found her checkbook. The register, running from September 11, 1981, to January 7, 1982, showed one check for $5, another for $8.75, one for $8, and another for $8.25, written to various payees. And there was check 4031, written on December 30 for $43, made out to Edward Elmore. Holloway told Johnson that Elmore was the handyman who had cleaned the gutters and washed windows recently. In a desk in Mrs. Edwards’s living room Coursey found her bank statements, and in the December statement was the check written to Elmore; he had cashed it at the local branch of Bankers Trust before it closed on New Year’s Eve.

Late in the afternoon, just before dark, another SLED agent, Tom Henderson, arrived from Columbia. Henderson had grown up across the street from Dorothy Edwards in a lovely ranch-style house on a wooded lot. When his mother, Christine, had seen the police cars and learned that her neighbor had been murdered, she called her son. He jumped into his car and sped to Greenwood.

Greenwood, however, wasn’t Henderson’s turf; Charley Webber was the resident SLED agent. Webber was a roly-poly, jovial sort who wore his hair long, as he had when he was the trumpet player with the Swingin’ Medallions, before he had become a law enforcement officer. He was driving down the street late Monday afternoon when police chief John Young honked for him to pull over. Young told Webber there had been a murder on Melrose Terrace and asked if he would go there. When Webber arrived, he asked Coursey if he needed help. Coursey said no. There was some bad blood between the men since they had both sought the position with SLED and Coursey had been rejected.

Coursey hadn’t asked for Henderson either, but his offer to help was accepted. Henderson, thirty-nine years old, had been at SLED ten years, after stumbling through early adulthood. “I went to three colleges, five different times, and it took me eleven years to graduate,” Henderson said. “Needless to say, I didn’t give a damn.” He’d also had two stints in the army, including a tour in Vietnam with the Special Forces. The Henderson-for-Webber switch was costly for Elmore. In less than twenty-four hours, Henderson was convinced that Elmore was guilty, a conviction from which he never wavered, while Webber would harbor doubts, which he largely kept to himself.

Robbery did not appear to be the motive for the crime. Mrs. Edwards’s $10,000 diamond ring and other valuable jewelry were in plain sight in her bedroom. “Large amounts of silver. Antique silver not disturbed,” Johnson said in his report. The only things missing, the police concluded—and this was based on what Holloway told them—were Mrs. Edwards’s clutch purse and a .32-caliber pistol, which Holloway said she kept in the nightstand drawer. There was no evidence that she had used the gun, or even tried to, against her attacker.

Indeed, the indications were that she knew her attacker. “It did appear that she was not afraid of the suspect because she had a night chain on the back kitchen door but she did not put it in place and slightly open door but open it wide,” Johnson noted in his report. The door had four windowpanes, so she would have seen who her visitor was before letting him in. That alone caused her neighbor Roy Raborn to doubt that Elmore had been the perpetrator. He just couldn’t believe that Mrs. Edwards would open the door to a black man late on a Saturday night, even one she knew a bit. “You would be stupid,” Raborn said. “I wouldn’t do it.” And a woman would be even less likely do so if she was dressed in her nightgown.

There was a curious dearth of fingerprints at the crime scene. The SLED forensic investigators found none on the needle-nose pliers lying on the kitchen floor or on the tongs, which were sticking out of the drawer, or on the bloody cake spatula found on the bureau.

Some ten hours after the first policeman had arrived at 209 Melrose Terrace, Sergeant Owen, and Herman Tooley Jr. of the Blyth Funeral Home, took possession of Mrs. Edwards’s body from DeFreese and Parnell and took it to Self Memorial Hospital, nine minutes away. Owen recorded this in his report. It was placed in a cooler, at a temperature of thirty-eight degrees Fahrenheit. The cooler was sealed with evidence tape; Owen signed it. The next morning, at 6:00, Owen was back at the hospital. The body was removed from the cooler, and he and Tom McHaney, another Blyth employee, drove it across the state to the Medical University of South Carolina, in Charleston, for an autopsy by Dr. Sandra E. Conradi. They arrived at 10:15.

Six hours later, Owen left the medical school and drove Mrs. Edwards’s body to SLED headquarters in Columbia. This was unusual. After an autopsy, a body would normally go to the funeral home. At SLED, Owen and agent Parnell took fingerprints and palm prints from Mrs. Edwards. That explained why the body had been brought to SLED but raised the question of why her fingerprints were needed.

Back in Greenwood, Captain Coursey went to a judge and sought a warrant for the arrest of Edward Lee Elmore. “Probable cause is based on the following facts,” Coursey said in his affidavit to the judge. “The deceased body of Dorothy E. Edwards was found at her home at 209 Melrose Terrace, Greenwood, South Carolina, on January 18, 1982, with multiple stab wounds and idencia of her being the victim of rape. A fingerprint of Edward Lee Elmore was found at this residence.”

This was shaky. Under the Fourth Amendment, the police may not arrest someone without “probable cause.” Basically, that means there has to be enough evidence to convince a reasonable person of the substantial likelihood that the person being arrested committed the crime. Since Elmore had been at Mrs. Edwards’s house in December, washing windows for her, it was reasonable that the print was left then. In fact, it might have been there several weeks, or possibly even months. “I can say whose print it was; I can’t say when it was put there,” SLED agent DeFreese would later testify. Curiously, the police had found only one Elmore fingerprint at the scene.

In his request for a warrant, Coursey did not mention the check that Mrs. Edwards had given to Elmore. Even the check plus the fingerprint would not seem to amount to probable cause. Magistrate Charles E. Henderson Jr. issued the warrant.

THE SUSPECT—EDWARD LEE ELMORE

EDWARD LEE ELMORE had grown up in the abject sort of environment that led President Lyndon Johnson to declare a war on poverty. Home was Abbeville, a historic small town fourteen miles west of Greenwood on tree-lined Route 72. John C. Calhoun practiced law there from 1807 to 1817 before becoming vice president, secretary of state, senator, and secretary of war. The first Confederate Assembly adopted the Ordinance of Secession here in 1860. A granite plinth rises in the town square, erected by the Daughters of the Confederacy of Abbeville. The inscription on one side: “The world shall yet decide in truth’s clear, far-off light, that the soldiers who wore the gray and died with Lee, were in the right.” The monument was erected in 1906, destroyed by a fire in 1991, and repaired and put up again by the town in 1996, more than 130 years after the end of the Civil War.

When Elmore was growing up, the “niggers” had their part of town and entered the white areas only to work in the textile mills or as maids or yardmen. They were paid so little that even a middle-class family could afford to employ them. For blacks and whites alike, Greenwood was “the big city,” the place to go to the cinema and, in the days before malls and fast-food chains, to shop at Rosenberg’s, a clothing store that had been around since 1884, or to eat at The Ranch, a good restaurant. Blacks found Greenwood more racist than Abbeville.

Edward’s mother, Mary Ellen Gardner, was the daughter of a tenant farmer. She was so tiny as a baby, and the family was so poor, that she slept in a drawer. She was sixteen when she had her first child. She’d had a second and was pregnant with her third when she married Henry Odey Elmore. They had a son and a daughter, pneumonia and malnutrition claimed another son in his infancy, then came another daughter, and a year later Mary was pregnant again. In her eighth month, she was diagnosed with toxemia, which can be fatal or result in a mentally retarded child. Mary was hospitalized. After ten days, labor was induced. Edward Lee was born on January 13, 1959.

Henry Elmore was listed as Edward’s father, but it is unlikely he was his biological father. Edward had reddish hair and a light complexion. Edward’s siblings and playmates taunted him that he had a white father. “His skin was lighter than mine,” said Elmore’s sister Peggy, whose biological father was Henry. When Edward was about two years old, Henry was struck by a car as he walked along Highway 17 in North Carolina. The driver didn’t stop. Henry died. The police never did find who hit him. “Probably didn’t try very hard,” says Peggy. “You know, black man.”

After Henry was killed there were always men around Mary, white and black. Some stayed a few hours, others longer. Earl Johnson was around the longest, maybe four or five years, during Edward’s early adolescence. He was hardly a role model. He would go into a grocery store and furtively take a package of meat, go off to another aisle, pummel the package a bit, then insist that the grocer give him the meat or sell it at a reduced price.

Drinking and violence were part of the scene, and Edward learned to stay away from his mother’s male friends. When Mary got drunk, he would stay away from her as well. She was jailed several times for disorderly conduct. She began giving her son beer at an early age. The family moved from one dilapidated house to another, many without electricity or running water, ahead of the rent collector or after the rent collector had caught up with and evicted them. One day, Eddie and Peggy got off the school bus in front of their public housing apartment and saw their belongings on the street; the family had been evicted again. Shamed and embarrassed, they walked on to a relative’s house.

The children picked cotton and peaches and picked up bottles along the roadside. “You’d get five cents from those bottles,” Peggy recalled. “We’d buy little stuff to eat, like ice cream.” On Sundays little Edward walked barefoot with his mother to Calhoun Falls Baptist Church.

Edward started attending Branch Street Elementary School when he was six. He didn’t yet know his colors. Asked to draw a man, he drew two circles, connected them with a diagonal line, and put a squiggly tail on the bottom circle. He was absent more than a third of the time, often because he was forced to scrounge for money, picking up bottles or whatever. He was in the first grade for three years. In the second grade, the kids teased him because he was slow and dim-witted, with speech defects and tics, and his clothes were ragged. His IQ was measured at 61, which psychologists classify as within the range of “mild mental retardation.” He quit after the first semester. Edward was twelve years old before he made it to the third grade, at the Langley Milliken School, a quarter of a mile from a large mill. He and Peggy were among the eight blacks sent to integrate the school. They didn’t cause any problems. “We got along, we really got along,” Peggy said. Peggy and Eddie were close. When she became a teenager and the boys started calling, Eddie would lie on the couch pretending to be asleep, then open one eye and say to the visitor, with a smile, “I got my eye on you.”

Edward was “soft-voiced,” a teacher noted on his report card. He “likes school—likes playing ball—dislikes spelling most.” Even though he couldn’t do the work, teachers promoted him through the third and fourth grades. In fifth grade, he dropped out, barely able to read at a second-grade level. He was fourteen but said he was sixteen in order to get a job at the J.P. Stevens textile plant in Abbeville. The machine he worked on would have to be shut down occasionally because of mistakes he made. He didn’t like the noise or being inside, and he quit. He wanted to try school again. He was sixteen and school officials thought the other fifth-graders would laugh at him, so they put him into the eighth grade at Wright Middle School. There was no way he could handle that level of work, and after twelve days he dropped out.

As an adult, Elmore would not be able to tell time or draw a clock. He didn’t understand the concept of north, south, east, and west or of summer, fall, winter, and spring. He briefly had a checking account but was unable to do the elementary math necessary to have enough in the bank to cover the checks he would write. He never lived on his own. He gave his money to his mother and a girlfriend to pay his bills, as he didn’t know how.

He was, however, a steady, trustworthy handyman. He was taken on by Clarence Aiken, a black general contractor who lived on the rough side—he had been shot in a bar brawl and had lost an arm in an automobile accident. Aiken trusted Elmore with the keys to the Abbeville County Courthouse when they were cleaning there. Elmore worked for two weeks cleaning and painting inside the palatial Spartanburg home of Roger Milliken, the textile magnate and one of the richest men in the South. There were never any complaints about his work or his stealing anything.

Elmore worked hard, doing chores around people’s homes in some of the most fashionable neighborhoods of Greenwood. In a good week, in good weather, he might earn $600; most of the time he earned between $200 and $300. Many of his customers were elderly widows, friends and neighbors of Dorothy Edwards’s. They liked him. “He was a black man that southern women got along with,” recalled James Bradford, a lawyer. Elmore painted and did odd jobs for Bradford’s mother and his mother-in-law. He was polite, deferential, sweet-natured—in a word, he was “servile,” as blacks were supposed to be. Slight of build, he was not at all physically threatening.

Elmore’s history was notably void of any clashes with the law. He was never arrested for drugs or drinking. Indeed, he had no criminal record whatsoever, except for a few minor charges arising out of fights with his girlfriend, Mary Dunlap.

They had met at the Depot, a Greenwood nightclub. “Oh, he’s so handsome,” she said to her girlfriend when she saw him in the crowd. He was taut and had an Afro with a slight reddish tint. She was five foot six, lithe, and beautiful. He came over, introduced himself, and asked her to dance. “That done it, he was my date for the night,” she remembered, a glint in her eyes even many years later. She invited him back to her apartment. He was proper. They had a couple of beers, and he left.

A week later, she saw him again at the Depot. “That night he stayed over,” she says. Their relationship had begun. She was eight years older and married, with two small children. After she separated from her husband, Elmore moved in. She lived in the Greenwood Gardens Apartments, a small complex of two-story buildings on the south side—the black side—of Greenwood. Mary’s apartment, on the ground floor, had two bedrooms, a living room, a kitchen—and three televisions. Elmore brought all his clothes; Mary didn’t need a second closet for them.

It was a tempestuous relationship. She was temperamental. He was jealous. “He just wanted me all to hisself,” she said. “He didn’t want me to do anything unless he was right there.” Especially, he didn’t like her running around in short shorts and skimpy singlets. That would set off near-childish temper tantrums. But he was a good man. He babysat her children. He gave her money for household expenses. Though he had smoked marijuana as a youngster, he didn’t use drugs. He drank beer but didn’t get drunk. When he wasn’t working, he’d stay at home and watch sports on TV.

They quarreled regularly, and on two or three occasions she complained to the police that he had hit her. She declined to press charges, and some doubted the incidents had ever occurred. There was a correlation between Mary’s complaints to the police about Elmore and the failure of her ex-husband to make child support payments. Was Mary taking out her anger at her ex-husband on her new boyfriend? In November 1981, for instance, Mary filed charges against her ex-husband; the next day, she filed a complaint against Elmore, claiming he had hit her. This time she signed a warrant. Elmore was arrested. He pleaded guilty and was fined $212, all but $40 suspended. Ten days later she called the police and said he had taken her pocketbook out of the car and stolen $60. She declined to prosecute. After that he moved out, but they continued to see each other—and to fight.

On Saturday, January 16, the day the police said Mrs. Edwards was murdered, Elmore had driven from Abbeville to Greenwood, borrowing his sister’s 1973 Ford LTD, as he often did, hoping to find work. He first stopped at Kmart, where Mary worked. She told him to come back at four, when she would have her lunch break. He left and drove a short distance to the neighborhood where Mrs. Edwards lived. He first went to Mrs. Wingard’s, just around the corner from Dorothy Edwards. Elmore had worked for her before. She didn’t need any chores done, but she told Elmore that a neighbor, Mrs. Blaylock, needed her gutters cleaned. He asked Mrs. Wingard to call Mrs. Blaylock to see if she wanted the work done that day. Mrs. Wingard was happy to do so, and Mrs. Blaylock said yes. She was an eighty-seven-year-old widow who for years had taught piano to the neighborhood girls and boys.

The gutters on the Blaylock house were quite small, making it hard to get a hand into them, which meant a lot of cuts. Elmore told Mrs. Blaylock he wanted $30, which she thought was high, but her gutters were quite clogged with leaves and she really wanted them cleaned. She didn’t want a black man to think she had that much cash in the house, however, so she said she’d pay by check; he agreed.

He worked only a short time, then left to take Mary to lunch.

Elmore wasn’t very happy when Mary came out with two of her coworkers. They all climbed into Elmore’s car and drove a few minutes to Po’ Folks. She ate; he only drank coffee. He didn’t have enough to pay for the meal. She gave him a dollar. He pleaded with her to let him move back in. No. She was firm. They left a few minutes before five, and he drove them back to Kmart. He went back to Mrs. Blaylock’s to finish his work.

He didn’t do much before it was dark and starting to rain.

“Come inside while I write your check,” Mrs. Blaylock said. It wasn’t customary for a white woman to let a black man into her house, but Mrs. Blaylock later testified at Elmore’s trial that it was the only humane thing to do; she could not let him stand in the cold. He stayed a few steps inside the door while she went over to the kitchen table and wrote out a check for $15.

He drove to the Kmart shopping center, got out of his car, walked to the pay phone in front of Big Star, and called Mary. She was irritated. She didn’t have time to talk, she said. She was doing inventory. But did he have $10? He did, from the $15 check he had just cashed. He walked into Kmart and found her in the shoe department. He gave her the money.

He went back outside and waited. At 9:30, she finished work. She had asked her brother Donnie to pick her up. He was there in Mary’s car, a 1976 Mustang, along with his wife, Sue.

Walking to her car, Mary saw Edward parked in front of Big Star. She ignored him. She climbed in with Donnie and Sue, and they drove on Route 25 past the Holiday Inn and McDonald’s. They headed to Mary’s mother’s house, to pick up Mary’s daughter. They sat around talking until 10:30 or a bit later, and then they all went to Mary’s apartment at Greenwood Gardens.

Around 12:30 a.m., Elmore showed up. When he knocked on the door, Sue opened it. Elmore rushed in and went straight to Mary’s bedroom. He’d had a couple of beers. She insisted that he leave. It got louder. Mary’s daughter was crying. Mary and Edward were yelling at each other. He asked her if he had left any clothes at her house. No, she said. She had thrown them all away. That set him off again. He took off his coat and started unbuttoning his shirt, then just ripped it off and threw it on the floor. Another temper tantrum.

“Mary, I want you, can’t nobody gonna git you,” Edward told her.

“I told you to go on, go on, we’re through, we’ve been through,” Mary shouted back.

Elmore sat down on the floor. “I ain’t goin’ nowhere, ain’t goin’ nowhere without Mary.”

He wouldn’t leave. So Mary decided she’d leave, go over to her mother’s. On her way out, she picked up his shirt and threw it in the kitchen wastebasket, put on her own jacket, turned out the lights, and left. She spent the night at her mother’s. Sunday morning, she went back to her apartment. She realized Elmore had spent the night there. He was gone now. She threw his shirt in the trash outside.

Elmore had left about 7:00 a.m., stopped at Fast Fare, a convenience store and gas station, and bought a dollar’s worth of gas, enough to get him to his mother’s in Abbeville. He spent Sunday drinking beer and watching television.

On Monday, the day Mrs. Edwards’s body was found, Elmore went into Greenwood looking for work but decided the weather was too bad and returned home.

THE ARREST

GREENWOOD POLICE, warrant in hand, began looking for Elmore on Tuesday afternoon. He wasn’t hiding, hadn’t run. He was three blocks away from Mrs. Edwards’s house, having resumed his work cleaning the gutters at Mrs. Blaylock’s. Less than twenty-four hours before, she had seen the police cars at her friend’s house and soon learned what had happened, but she saw no reason to be nervous about Elmore. When he finished, she gave him a check for $15, which he cashed, and then he drove home to Abbeville. That evening, he drove back to Greenwood to see Mary, as if their Saturday fight hadn’t happened or they had fought so often that it didn’t faze him. It was a repeat of Saturday. Her sister-in-law Sue opened the door and let him in. Mary was in the bedroom. She shouted that she was finished with him and told him to leave. He refused. They argued. He said he was going to buy cigarettes. Mary yelled that when he came back, the door would be locked. That’s okay, he said; he would come in the window in the children’s bedroom. He’d done that often, and she never objected. He went for cigarettes, came back, and climbed through the window. Again, she demanded that he leave. He wanted to stay.

Mary had had enough. She was going to call the police. She didn’t have a phone at home, so she threw her coat on over her nightclothes and stomped out of the apartment. He followed. She got into her Mustang, and he hurriedly climbed in on the passenger side. She drove four blocks to Fast Fare, got out, and walked to the pay phone, which was outside. He was right behind her. She called the police. She told the duty officer that her boyfriend had broken into her apartment and that he wouldn’t leave. She and Elmore got back in her car and returned to the apartment. It was after midnight.

The Greenwood Gardens Apartments were only a mile from the Greenwood police station, and within minutes, officers Ray Manley and Randy Miles pulled into the parking lot. They went to building 15, at the south end of the complex, and knocked on the brown door with an A on it. Mary let them in and pointed to Elmore. When Manley heard the name, he recalled the arrest warrant that had been issued only a few hours earlier. He radioed for backup.

Detectives Gary Vanlerberghe and Perry Dickenson, who were patrolling nearby, arrived within minutes.

“This is Elmore,” Manley told them.

“Are you Edward Lee Elmore?” asked Vanlerberghe.

“Yes, sir.”

Vanlerberghe, who had joined the Greenwood Police Department in 1978 after leaving the air force, asked Elmore to step outside, which he compliantly did.

They told him he was being arrested for the murder of a woman on Melrose Terrace. “I didn’t do it,” Elmore said softly. Elmore’s demeanor surprised Vanlerberghe. Elmore didn’t resist; he didn’t give them any verbal abuse. “Docile” was how Vanlerberghe described him. Maybe he didn’t do it, Vanlerberghe thought.

Elmore and four cops, including Manley, a fourteen-year veteran on the force, who was a huge man—280 pounds, with a nineteen-and-a-half-inch neck—walked to the parking lot. The police patted Elmore down, but they didn’t handcuff him. They put him in the backseat and drove to the jail, officially called Greenwood Law Enforcement Center, a one-story, sand-colored brick structure built in 1976. It was 2:45 a.m.

Elmore sat at a table across from Detective Dickenson, who was in street clothes. Johnson and Coursey were present. Dickenson read Elmore his Miranda rights, which were printed on a card he carried in his pocket, as police officers around the country have done since the Supreme Court’s landmark 1966 ruling in Miranda v. Arizona that a defendant’s statement to police is inadmissible at trial if the suspect has not been advised of his constitutional rights to a lawyer and to remain silent.

“Do you understand each of these rights I’ve explained to you?” Dickenson said.

Yes, said Elmore.

“Do you want a lawyer?”

No, Elmore said.

“Do you want to answer questions now?”

He was willing to—but he was befuddled. Who was he charged with murdering? he asked Detective Dickenson again.

“Mrs. Dorothy Edwards.”

Elmore said he didn’t know any “Mrs. Dorothy Edwards.”

“Do you mean to tell me that you do not know Mrs. Edwards, the elderly lady who lives on Melrose Terrace, the street behind the First Baptist Church?” Coursey asked impatiently.

“No, I do not know her,” Elmore said.

“You mean you did not do any windows or gutters for Mrs. Edwards?” Coursey said.

“I do windows and gutters, but I don’t know a Mrs. Edwards,” Elmore said.

There were a lot of seemingly simple things Edward Elmore didn’t know or comprehend. He couldn’t tell you the street Mrs. Edwards or Mrs. Blaylock lived on, or any of the other people he worked for; he only knew how to get there. He told Dickenson and Coursey he had worked for “Mrs. Henrietta,” but Henrietta was the street—near Melrose Terrace—and the woman who lived there was Mrs. Wingard.

Sergeant Johnson showed Elmore the State Farm Insurance card on which he had scrawled Mrs. Edwards’s name and phone number; the police had found it in his wallet. Coursey told him that the police had a check for $43 that Mrs. Edwards had written to him and that he had cashed. Now Elmore knew who they were talking about.

Coursey asked Elmore if he would give a blood sample. He signed a consent form. Coursey also wanted hair samples. He pulled a comb through Elmore’s Afro. He then took him into the shower and ordered him to lower his jeans. He didn’t notice any injuries or bruises in the groin area, he would later testify. Coursey pulled on a pair of latex gloves and ran the comb through Elmore’s pubic hair. Normally that was all that the police would do; the hairs that were loose and fell out during combing were enough for comparison purposes. But with a tweezers, Coursey yanked out more hairs. Eight or ten hairs, maybe a dozen, are enough for comparison purposes. Coursey collected at least sixty. He put the hairs in a ziplock baggie, which was sent to SLED for analysis.

Tom Henderson took over the questioning. When Elmore was first brought into the police station, Coursey had called Henderson, who was asleep at his mother’s. He dressed quickly and was at the jail in minutes. Henderson again advised Elmore of his Miranda rights. Elmore again said he didn’t need a lawyer, that he would answer any questions.

Are these your shoes? Henderson asked, showing him the shoes Elmore had been wearing when arrested.

Yes, sir.

How long have you been wearing them?

Long time, said Elmore. He wore them all the time.

All weekend? asked Henderson.

Yes, sir.

On Saturday, the sixteenth? Yes, sir.

Henderson told him the stains on the shoes looked like blood. Any idea how that got there? Henderson asked.

No, sir, no idea, said Elmore.

Been killing any cows or hogs or any kind of animal, or you been walking in blood? Henderson asked sarcastically, his signature interrogation technique.

No, sir, Elmore said respectfully.

The interrogation went on for more than two hours. The police had concluded that Mrs. Edwards had been murdered Saturday evening, based on what Holloway had told them, as well as the coffeepot and the alarm clock being on. They asked Elmore what he had been doing that day. He told them about borrowing his sister’s car, driving to Greenwood, working for a woman who lived near Mrs. Wingard, driving back to Kmart, eating at Po’ Folks with Mary and two friends, finishing at “that lady’s house on Henrietta Avenue” (it was Mrs. Blaylock, and she lived on North Street). He went on to say that he had gone back to Kmart and given Mary $10, that she had been picked up by her brother Donnie, that he had gone to her apartment, that she got mad at him and left to go to her mother’s, and that he had spent the night. (He did not go into detail about the fight he and Mary had had.)

Henderson dictated a summary of what Elmore had said to a secretary, who typed it up; it was slightly more than a page in length. At 5:05 a.m., Elmore signed it. He’d gone almost twenty-four hours without sleep. Now he was driven to SLED headquarters in Columbia for more interrogation. Henderson and Johnson went with him.

MEANWHILE, the police moved swiftly to gather evidence. It was still dark on Wednesday morning when Dickenson and Vanlerberghe drove to Abbeville. They woke a local judge, Mary Daniels, to countersign a search warrant. Then they went to the Hickory Heights Apartments, where Peggy lived. It was 7:45 in the morning. The police officers knocked on the window of apartment 4F, waking her. Peggy got up and came to the door. Do you have a brother, Edward, she was asked? Yes. They asked for permission to search her car, which was parked in the south lot of the Greenwood Gardens Apartments. They didn’t say why. She didn’t feel she had any choice. “The police do what they want to,” she said later. “I didn’t want to go to jail.” She signed the consent form. They now told her that her brother had been arrested for murdering a woman. After they left, she drove into Greenwood to see him, to find out what was going on. But he was already in Columbia being questioned by SLED.

The police officers walked over to apartment A, where Edward’s mother lived, and Edward, too, when he wasn’t with Mary. They introduced themselves and showed Mrs. Elmore the warrant. It authorized them to search for “a ladies clutch purse, money with blood marks, male shoes and male clothing which may contain blood marks and/or hairs of one Edward Lee Elmore or Dorothy E. Edwards, deceased, and a pistol firearm.” She couldn’t read it, but she wasn’t about to say no to any white police officer either, and led them to her son’s tiny room, which he shared with his brother. There wasn’t much in it. A corduroy jacket and a pair of Levi’s were hanging on the door. There were a few small reddish spots on the jeans. The officers took them.

Another Greenwood police team went to Mary Dunlap’s apartment in Greenwood. She, too, consented to a search. While there, with the permission they had from Peggy, the police took the LTD and drove it to the station. The police vacuumed the seats and floorboards, front and back, sure they would find some hair or fibers Elmore had picked up while raping and murdering Mrs. Edwards. They came up with half a garbage pail of dirt and debris; Henderson delivered it to SLED for analysis. He described the contents: “Vacuum bag samples from floor of car driven by Edward Elmore on the day he murdered Dorothy Edwards.”

Henderson wasn’t being careless when he wrote “murdered” and not “allegedly murdered.” By that time, he explained during a deposition in the case years later, the police “had firmly reached the conclusion” that Elmore had murdered Dorothy Edwards.

“Area Man Faces Murder Charge” The Index-Journal trumpeted in a three-column headline at the top of the page on its Wednesday afternoon paper. And the police considered the case closed. “No other arrests expected,” said the police chief, John Young.

The tests on the vacuumed debris revealed nothing. Nor was there any blood in the car. The police found nothing incriminating in Mary’s apartment either. They never found Mrs. Edwards’s Aigner clutch purse, or the gun, which Holloway said she kept next to her bed. That didn’t sway Henderson, the police, or the prosecutor.

THE DEATH PENALTY

TWO DAYS AFTER Elmore was arrested, the Greenwood County solicitor, William T. Jones, a powerful and legendary figure, told the court during a hearing following Elmore’s arraignment that he intended to seek the death penalty. It was not a surprise, given the history of Jones and the state.

South Carolina has been executing criminals as long as it has existed, as a colony and a state. Hanging rope gave way to the electric chair in 1912, and since 1995, the condemned can choose between the electric chair and lethal injection. The state has the distinction of having put to death the youngest person to be executed in the United States in the twentieth century, George Stinney. An African American, he was fourteen years old when he was convicted, in 1944, of murdering two white girls. The only evidence against him was his supposed confession. An all-white jury convicted him in ten minutes. His arrest, trial, and execution took less than two months.

The American colonies adopted capital punishment from England, where public hanging, burning at the stake, and beheading were the punishments for anyone convicted of a felony, which included shoplifting and stealing a spoon or rabbits, as well as treason, murder, and marrying a Jew. When English juries balked at convicting defendants for petty crimes because they knew it meant death, Parliament steadily reduced the number of capital offenses, until execution could be imposed only for murder and treason. The British government abolished the death penalty altogether in the 1960s, even though polls showed the overwhelming majority of the public supported it.

When it came to writing the Constitution, the Founding Fathers left the issue of execution—along with other punishments—to the states, and hangings continued to be public spectacles. Only a few early American leaders were opposed to the death penalty, most notably Benjamin Franklin and Thomas Jefferson, and the first organized opposition came with the formation of the Society for the Abolition of Capital Punishment in 1845. Many of its members were also active in the anti-slavery movement. Even back then, and not just in the South, blacks made up a disproportionate number of those executed. It wouldn’t happen “to a white man with money,” a Boston newspaper wrote about the hanging of a black seaman, Washington Goode, whose case became a rallying cry for abolitionists; some four hundred Concord residents, including Henry David Thoreau and Ralph Waldo Emerson, signed a petition calling on the governor to commute his sentence. Connecticut was the first state to abolish public executions, in 1830, and Michigan was the first state to do away with capital punishment altogether, in 1846, followed quickly by Rhode Island and Wisconsin. (One hundred fifty years later, the Wisconsin district attorney who prosecuted Jeffrey Dahmer, the serial killer who murdered and dismembered at least seventeen boys and men, explained why he was opposed to the death penalty. “I have a gut suspicion of the state wielding the power of death over anybody,” said E. Michael McCann. “To participate in the killing of another human being, it diminishes the respect for life. Period.”) In the South, punishment by death was tied up with slavery—inciting slaves to run away and the striking of a white person by a slave were capital crimes—and all southern states have the death penalty today.

Executions rose during the Depression, reached a one-year record of 153 in 1947, and then began to taper off as the abolition movement gathered steam, focused now in California and with an assist from Hollywood. Two death row inmates at San Quentin, Barbara Graham and Caryl Chessman, became household names. Graham was a petty criminal, prostitute, and drug addict who was convicted, along with two male friends, of murdering a sixty-four-year-old widow in the course of a robbery; she was put to death in the gas chamber in 1955, two weeks shy of her thirty-second birthday. A movie was made of her case, I Want to Live!, with Susan Hayward playing Graham, for which she won an Oscar as best actress. One critic called it a “relentless indictment of capital punishment,” while another described it as “a dramatic and eloquent piece of propaganda for the abolition of the death penalty.”

Chessman acquired his fame and his role as a cause célèbre for the anti–death penalty movement from his own writings—four books while he was on death row, including Cell 2455, Death Row. He never killed anyone and was sentenced to death for a string of assaults on young women on Los Angeles freeways. He earned the sobriquet “Red Light Bandit” for his modus operandi: following young women drivers, he would flash a red light; when they pulled over, he would rob and sometimes rape them. He represented himself at trial and while in prison prepared appeals himself, which earned him several stays of execution. His case attracted international attention, with Pope John XXIII among those calling for Chessman’s life to be spared. California governor Edmund G. “Pat” Brown was a devout Roman Catholic, and opposed to the death penalty, but the California legislature rejected a law to abolish the death penalty, and with polls showing that Californians strongly supported Chessman’s execution (54 percent to 33 percent), Brown let Chessman go to the gas chamber on May 2, 1960. But the anti–death penalty movement gathered momentum, and a Gallup poll in 1966 found that only 32 percent of Americans supported capital punishment. Support has never been lower, before or since.

Nearly half the individuals being executed were black (even though they made up only some 13 percent of the population), and lawyers at the NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund (LDF) were methodically chipping away at capital punishment. Under the direction of two brilliant lawyers, Jack Greenberg and Anthony Amsterdam, the LDF began to lodge appeals in every death sentence case throughout the land. The result was a de facto moratorium. There was only one execution in 1966; there were two in 1967. State court judges waited to see what the Supreme Court would ultimately say. The answer came in 1972.

Three cases reached the court, those of Lucious Jackson Jr., a twenty-one-year-old black man who raped a white woman, holding scissors against her neck, after escaping from prison; Elmer Branch, a black man of “dull normal intelligence” who raped a sixty-five-year-old white widow in Texas; and William Henry Furman, a twenty-six-year-old black man who murdered a father of five during a botched burglary. Furman had a history of mental problems and was deemed by a state psychiatrist to be mentally incapable of assisting in his own defense; his trial had lasted one day.

The question before the court was limited: Is the imposition and carrying out of the death penalty in these cases cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution? The amendment was adopted verbatim by the Founding Fathers from the English Bill of Rights, and it is only sixteen words long: “Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.”

The court had rarely had to consider the clause, and when it did, the issue focused on the method of execution. In 1878, in Wilkerson v. Utah, the court upheld execution by firing squad. Twelve years later, in In re Kemmler, it upheld the electric chair. One of the more notorious cases to reach the court involved efforts by Louisiana to execute sixteen-year-old Willie Francis for murder. There was no physical evidence linking him to the crime, but he allegedly confessed. On the day set for his execution, he was strapped into the electric chair. The first jolt didn’t kill him. The executioner upped the voltage; that also failed to kill him. He was led back to his cell. Appeals followed. The court upheld the right of the state to try again. While what the state was doing was “hardly defensible,” Justice Felix Frankfurter wrote, “It is not so offensive to make one puke—it does not shock my conscience.” Though he was “strongly against capital punishment,” he said that it was a matter for state legislatures, not the Supreme Court.

Those three cases largely represented the state of the law when Furman v. Georgia reached the court in 1971. In Furman, the issue wasn’t the method of execution, but execution per se—was it proscribed by the Eighth Amendment? By a vote of 5–4, the court overturned the sentences.

But the decision was far more complex than it appeared. For starters, the court announced its decision in a very short, unsigned per curiam opinion, something extremely rare. It reflected that the justices were as divided and uncertain on capital punishment as was the general public. Each of the justices wrote a separate opinion, the total coming to more than two hundred pages, one of the longest documents ever produced by the Supreme Court.

Only Justices Thurgood Marshall and William J. Brennan Jr. declared categorically that the death penalty was unconstitutional. “The criminal acts with which we are confronted are ugly, vicious, reprehensible acts,” Marshall began his eighty-five-page opinion. “Their sheer brutality cannot and should not be minimized.” But the court was not being asked to condone the crimes, Marshall went on; it was only being asked whether the death penalty in each case violated the Eighth Amendment. He then traced the history of capital punishment, noting the decline in the number of crimes for which it was considered appropriate and in its implementation. He concluded that it wasn’t a deterrent, and that it was more costly to execute a man than to keep him in prison for life. Finally, he declared, putting a man to death for a crime “is morally unacceptable to the people of the United States at this time in their history.”

For Brennan, a punishment was cruel and unusual “if it does not comport with human dignity.” And putting someone to death, he wrote, was “fatally offensive to human dignity.” The words “human dignity” appear nowhere in the Constitution, and may have sprung from Brennan’s Roman Catholic faith.

William O. Douglas was the court’s most liberal justice—“the most doctrinaire and committed civil libertarian ever to sit on the court,” Time magazine wrote in 1975—but he was not willing to go as far as Brennan and Marshall. In his view, it was the arbitrary and capricious manner in which the death penalty was being carried out by the states that rendered it unconstitutional. “One searches our chronicles in vain for the execution of any member of the affluent strata of our society,” Douglas wrote. Justice Douglas noted the race, background, and mental faculties of Furman, Branch, and Jackson and, more broadly, that a disproportionate number of blacks, poor, young, and uneducated people, were sent to their deaths.

Justice Potter Stewart saw other evidence of the arbitrary nature of the administration of the death penalty: for the same crime, one person might be executed while ten others were sentenced to life in prison. In an opinion only ten paragraphs long, Stewart said that a death sentence was cruel and unusual “in the same way that being struck by lightning is cruel and unusual.”

Among the dissenters was Justice Harry Blackmun. “I yield to no one in the depth of my distaste, antipathy, and, indeed, abhorrence, for the death penalty,” he began. “Were I a legislator,” he went on, “I would vote against the death penalty.” But he was a justice and this was a court, and he could find nothing in history or law or earlier court decisions to justify overturning the death penalty.

The court’s decision in Furman overturned the death penalty in the forty states where it could be applied and in the District of Columbia as well as for the federal government; across the country some six hundred death row inmates had their lives spared, more than half of them African American. Opponents of capital punishment rejoiced. Prematurely. While the court said the death penalty was unconstitutional as it was being administered, the justices (except for Brennan and Marshall) left open the possibility that capital punishment could be administered in ways that were constitutional.

Death penalty proponents went to work. In California, a ballot initiative to reinstate the death penalty, which was backed by Governor Ronald Reagan, was approved by nearly two to one. Within five months after Furman, the Florida legislature had enacted a new death penalty law, and other legislatures quickly followed. The new laws varied from state to state, but in general they limited the death penalty to aggravated murder, rape, and kidnapping; provided for bifurcated trials—first on the question of guilt or innocence, and if the defendant was found guilty, a second phase on the question of sentence—and placed requirements on judges and juries before they could impose it.

The Supreme Court spoke again in 1976, in Gregg v. Georgia and companion cases from Texas, Louisiana, North Carolina, and Florida. The new capital punishment laws were upheld. Eventually, when the pro–death penalty legislators and lawyers were finished, the capital punishment map looked a lot like it did pre-Furman: executions were permitted in thirty-eight states, primarily in the South and West, and by the federal government.

The first person executed after Furman and Gregg was Gary Gilmore, who killed a gas station attendant one day and a motel clerk the next. Gilmore, who had spent most of his life in prison or on the run, wanted to die; he did not want his lawyers to seek a stay from the Supreme Court. He was shot by a five-man firing squad in Utah in 1977. The case drew international attention, and Gilmore’s life was portrayed in a landmark book by Norman Mailer, The Executioner’s Song. The death penalty was back. What has become known as the modern era of the death penalty had begun.

THE PROSECUTOR

BEFORE JONES COULD proceed to trial against Elmore, he had to seek an indictment from a grand jury. The grand jury requirement is rooted in English common law and was enshrined in the Magna Carta as a check on the king’s power. In the American colonies, grand juries continued to serve as a check on royal powers by refusing to indict individuals who refused to pay taxes and duties imposed by Britain. The Founding Fathers understandably preserved the grand jury. The Fifth Amendment provides that “no person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury.…” The grand jury is no longer used in Britain, and the Fifth Amendment grand jury requirement has not been extended by the Supreme Court to the states (though other provisions of the amendment have been). By their own laws, most states require a grand jury in serious cases. Proceedings are in secret, and neither the defendant nor his lawyer is present. It is also debatable how effective the grand jury is as a shield against abuse of authority. “A competent prosecutor can get a grand jury to indict a ham sandwich,” a New York judge once said. (Prosecutors also use the grand jury as an investigative tool, subpoenaing witnesses to help them solve a crime or to find enough evidence to indict an individual. They are often used this way in cases involving organized crime or terrorism.)

A few months before asking the grand jury to indict Elmore, Jones had brought the same panel the case of a prominent member of the community, a white man, who had shot and killed a black man walking across his property at night. In the secrecy of the grand jury room, Jones made it clear that he did not think an indictment was appropriate. The accused was an upstanding member of the community, Jones said, and he asked the grand jurors what they would have done if they had seen a black man on their property in the dark. Wouldn’t they have picked up a shotgun? he said to the jurors. The grand jury declined to indict.

Jones didn’t present much evidence in the Elmore case—the testimony of a couple of police officers and the gruesome photographs of Mrs. Edwards stuffed in the closet. It took less than twenty minutes. “It was bim, bam, thank you ma’am,” recalled Barry Raborn, at thirty-six the youngest member of the all-white grand jury. Raborn told Jones he didn’t think he should be serving; he had grown up three doors from Mrs. Edwards—a remarkably attractive lady, he thought—and his father had been a pallbearer at her funeral. He had gone to high school with two of the police officers in the case. Nevertheless, Jones kept him. Raborn abstained from voting for or against an indictment; years later, he would conclude that he had been wrong not to oppose it. It wouldn’t have made much difference, except to his conscience.

In addition to murder, the grand jury handed up an indictment for criminal sexual conduct, burglary, housebreaking, armed robbery, and larceny.

There was never any doubt the jury would indict. Greenwood grand juries always did what Jones wanted, followed him like sheep, said Raborn. “If he said it was dark outside in the middle of the afternoon, they’d say, ‘You’re right.’ ”

WILLIAM TOWNES JONES III was a Greenwood institution—renowned, powerful, and feared. “He was the sort of person for whom the cliché about taking up all the air in the room could have been invented,” said a lawyer who knew him. He was about five eight or five nine, of average build. He prided himself on being physically tough and had a firm handshake. Vain about his age, a dapper dresser in a conservative, old-fashioned way—he wore a fedora long after they had gone out of style—Jones was charismatic. At the same time, he appeared to be openly needy, a man who seemed to suffer in front of your eyes. He was born into the landed gentry, in the quaint-sounding Ware Shoals, just up the road from Greenwood. His father had lost the land to drink and the Depression, but by dint of his smarts (Phi Beta Kappa at the University of South Carolina), street savvy, and intensity of will, young Jones had risen. He had a ferocious temper and a reputation as a bit of a bully; no one crossed “Willy T.,” as just about everyone called him—though never when he was within earshot. “If he was on your side, you had a friend; if not, you had an enemy,” residents said. When Domino’s Pizza opened in Greenwood, the phone company gave it the number 229–1111. Jones’s law office number was 223–1111. He was soon getting calls for pizza delivery. Annoyed, he demanded that the phone company change Domino’s number. Domino’s resisted. Jones prevailed.

For years, being county prosecutor was a part-time job in South Carolina, and in his private practice Jones hired talented young law graduates and taught them the practical aspects of the craft. Ron Motley, one of the nation’s premier trial lawyers, who earned his name—and millions—suing asbestos and tobacco companies and years later would represent some of the relatives of the victims of the 9/11 attacks, got his start with Jones. Jones was a “blue dog” Democrat, and at the 1972 Democratic National Convention in New York he met a young southerner who had just finished Yale Law School. He had been so impressed by the recent graduate that he offered him a job. Bill Clinton declined, saying he had decided to go back to Arkansas and enter politics.

Jones was elected solicitor, as South Carolina calls its prosecutors, in 1952 and reelected every four years until he retired in 1984 and was succeeded by his son Townes.

IN THE ADVERSARIAL American criminal justice system, Jones would square off with Elmore’s lawyers, with the judge sitting as impartial referee and the jury deciding who won, as it were. It is sometimes called “trial by combat.” But for the prosecution, for the state, winning is not synonymous with a conviction, or at least it is not supposed to be. The state’s interest “in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done,” Justice George Sutherland wrote in 1935 for a unanimous Supreme Court in Berger v. United States. The court overturned a conspiracy conviction in part on the grounds that the prosecutor had exceeded permissible bounds in his cross-examination. The prosecutor should “prosecute with earnestness and vigor,” observed Sutherland, a conservative Republican from Utah. “But, while he may strike hard blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul ones. It is as much his duty to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just one.”

Thirty-two years later, in 1967, Justice Byron White expressed the same view. “Law enforcement officers have the obligation to convict the guilty and to make sure they do not convict the innocent,” he wrote in United States v. Wade. Though appointed by President Kennedy, White was not a liberal on the court and tended to side with the prosecution over the defense. He had, for instance, dissented a year earlier in Miranda.

The American Bar Association sets the standards and ethical codes for lawyers. “The duty of the prosecutor is to seek justice, not merely to convict,” says the ABA’s Criminal Justice Standards. It elaborates: “Although the prosecutor operates within the adversary system, it is fundamental that the prosecutor’s obligation is to protect the innocent as well as to convict the guilty, to guard the rights of the accused as well as to enforce the rights of the public.”

At the time Jones was chief prosecutor in Greenwood, his counterpart in Los Angeles, Stephen Trott, was teaching young deputies what this ethical obligation meant. When one of them would come to him and say he was facing an ethical problem because he had discovered evidence that would help the defense, and if he turned it over, the state would lose, Trott would say, “That’s not an ethical problem. The ethical answer is easy. Turn it over.” Or a deputy would inform his boss that he’d concluded his star witness was lying. Trott, who would go on to serve as assistant attorney general in the criminal division of the Justice Department during the Reagan administration and as a judge on the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, would say, “You don’t have an ethical problem. You don’t have a case. Dismiss it.” That’s the pinnacle of a prosecutor adhering to his ethical duty. “I wonder how many of today’s senior prosecutors tell their juniors stories like that one,” said Mark Kleiman, who had worked for Trott.

Apparently, not Jones. After Mrs. Edwards’s fingerprints had been taken at SLED headquarters and the hairs found on her body during the autopsy had been examined, the evidence against Elmore was weak at best, and the evidence was stronger that another, unknown, person may have committed the murder. But the police stopped their investigation once they had arrested Elmore, and Jones, far from dismissing the case, proceeded to trial.
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